

Contents

Foreword	3
Executive summary	4
1. The case for change	5
2. The basics: Three pillars for successful engagement	7
2.1 Understand and respect the local context	7
2.2 Engage early, continuously, meaningfully and transparently	8
2.3 Define a clear plan focused on delivering shared value	9
3. Call for action: Embracing a people-positive approach	10
3.1 Prioritize system value impact within the business strategy	10
3.2 Leverage cross-sectoral collaboration to move towards a partnership approach with communities	11
3.3 Work with other industry leaders to develop a framework for measuring people-positive impact	12
Conclusion	13
Contributors	14
Endnotes	16

Disclaimer

This document is published by the World Economic Forum as a contribution to a project, insight area or interaction. The findings, interpretations and conclusions expressed herein are a result of a collaborative process facilitated and endorsed by the World Economic Forum but whose results do not necessarily represent the views of the World Economic Forum, nor the entirety of its Members, Partners or other stakeholders.

© 2023 World Economic Forum. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, including photocopying and recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system.

Foreword

Businesses have a key role in delivering on global climate targets, while ensuring a secure, just and equitable energy transition. This requires a massive buildout of clean power infrastructure, with total investment estimated at \$4.5 trillion by 2030.¹ Bringing people along on this journey will be critical not only to achieve an accelerated transition, but also to ensure these investments deliver broader social, economic and environmental value.



Mads Nipper Chief Executive Officer, Ørsted, Denmark

Renewable energy is our single most important tool to tackle the climate crisis, while preserving nature, providing energy security and delivering affordable energy in the long term. According to the International Energy Agency's updated Net Zero Roadmap, the path to keeping global warming below 1.5°C is still open – but it is narrowing fast. To stay on track, total installed clean energy capacity must triple to 11,000 GW by 2030.

Such speed and scale are unprecedented, and community support is crucial to facilitate it. The buildout holds the potential to create millions of new jobs. Realizing this potential is a core part of driving a people-positive renewables buildout that we believe is necessary to unlock a rapid energy transition.

Yet people-positive renewable energy is an ambition that still needs an industry definition, and we welcome the building blocks this paper sets out. We believe that for energy projects to be people-positive, there are a few key elements the industry should explore. These include how to effectively prioritize local upskilling and job creation, how to meaningfully engage with people living close to new sites, and how to best ensure people from marginalized groups have equitable access to the opportunities and shared benefits of clean energy.

Our industry needs dialogue with community groups and non-governmental organizations (NGOs) to define common standards for a people-positive energy transition. We also invite our industry peers to work together to find the best ways to integrate people-positive measures into the buildout. And we urge governments to not only focus on the lowest price, but also the wider societal value creation in their transition plans. We need to build green energy now, and we need to build it right for the people and the planet.



Kareen Boutonnat CEO of EMEA and APAC, Lightsource bp, United Kingdom

Great partnerships pave the way for incredible progress! It is evident that the acceleration of renewables needs to move beyond the norms of "business as usual" to meet the unprecedented technological, financial and logistical challenges our world faces to transform the energy sector.

We firmly believe it is the duty and responsibility of corporations to carry this partnership ethos into the local communities hosting our renewable energy projects. Moreover, we understand there is no one-size-fits-all solution as communities across the world face many different challenges. We must approach the delivery of our renewable projects with empathy and understanding.

This report outlines the core principles of establishing and nurturing partnerships with local communities, while also providing insights into how we can build trust and transparency through our community engagement practices. This requires an evolution of our business processes and operations, placing emphasis on community engagement and integration of local partnerships throughout the project life cycle.

By fostering these partnerships, we ignite a powerful engine for change, yielding benefits that extend far beyond renewable energy, driving substantial positive impacts for both our people and our planet.

Executive summary

A massive buildout of new energy infrastructure, in particular clean power, is needed to meet the goals of the energy transition. As this infrastructure will increasingly intersect with population centres and natural ecosystems, managing its impact will become even more important. There are other factors to consider, including a growing recognition of the need for a just and equitable energy transition, broader access to information and easier amplification of voices through social media. If not managed, businesses risk losing their social licence to operate and eroding business value. When managed well, clean power infrastructure development presents a considerable opportunity to create significant business value as well as wider system value for society, the economy and the environment.

Community engagement has for a long time been an integral part of project development for energy and infrastructure companies. While there is no singular template for what good looks like, given the many variables involved and the unique social contexts, numerous learnings and best practices have been developed over the years that form the basic building blocks of successful engagement. These include: 1) understanding and respecting the local context; 2) engaging early, continuously, meaningfully and transparently; and 3) defining a clear plan focused on delivering shared value.

While these building blocks are important for successful engagement, they are no longer enough. Achieving the necessary speed and scale in the energy transition in a responsible way merits a new approach. This new approach includes: 1) prioritizing system value impact within the business strategy; 2) leveraging cross-sectoral collaboration to move towards a partnership approach with communities; and 3) working with other industry leaders to develop a framework for measuring people-positive impact.

The clean power industry has an opportunity to do things differently. By leading with a people-positive approach to community engagement, the industry can not only improve business performance, but also drive a more equitable and just energy transition.





1) The case for change

Fostering a successful energy transition requires balancing the dimensions of the "energy triangle": equity, security and sustainability.² Achieving this equilibrium entails thoughtful transformation of the global energy mix in a way that maximizes societal impact.

The scale of the clean energy transition requires a significantly large area of land and water, inevitably bringing infrastructure closer to communities.

To meet net zero goals, clean power³ capacity alone is expected to expand three-fold by 2030 and nine-fold by 2050,4 requiring significantly large areas of land and water. Estimates range from 2-3% for the EU⁵ and the US⁶ and up to 5% for Japan and South Korea. Finding project sites that do not impact people will become increasingly difficult. In addition, the accelerating pace of deployment increases both the frequency and magnitude of that impact.

Due to its permanent nature, large-scale clean power infrastructure located near homes, areas of economic activity, recreational sites or even natural ecosystems requires an effort to be accepted and integrated into the social and cultural fabric. The scale and pace of clean power infrastructure deployment now requires businesses to work harder than ever to secure acceptance.

Awareness and sensitivity are higher, and amplification of voices is easier.

Growing awareness of the need for a just and equitable energy transition, broader access to information (and misinformation) as well as the amplification of voices through social media, is adding to the challenge.

A 2020 study⁷ analysed nearly 300 cases of opposition to clean power projects across 23 countries from 1997 to 2019. It showed that 10% of projects got cancelled, 21% were suspended and of the remaining, 50% were delayed. Concerns raised varied significantly based on the local context, and were related to environmental, cultural, social and economic impacts.

Delays, suspensions or even cancellation of projects not only slow down the energy transition, but also impact business performance due to revenue loss and higher operating costs. In extreme cases, lengthy legal battles and hostile working environments can affect a business' ability to operate safely and profitably, and can even cause damage to brand equity and reputation.

The clean power transformation presents a considerable opportunity to create wider system value - for society, the economy and the environment.

Clean power infrastructure projects can create considerable social, economic and environmental value (or "system value").8 Social and economic outcomes include secure access to electricity, economic development, job creation, upskilling and reskilling, improved air quality and health outcomes. Clean power projects also have an impact on the environment and, when properly designed, can enable nature-positive outcomes. To maximize system value, community engagement needs to be an integral part of the project life cycle from site selection to decommissioning. This helps ensure a better understanding of the local cultural, environmental and economic needs at each stage and can guide business decisions.

Business leaders have an opportunity to adopt new approaches to create wider system value. This will not only enable a just and equitable energy transition, but also accelerate its pace.

BOX 1. | Understanding opposition

The terms NIMBY (Not in My Back Yard) and BANANA (Build Absolutely Nothing Anywhere Near Anything) are used when referring to opposition to all types of infrastructure projects from communities, indigenous groups, conservation groups and even local public and regulatory authorities. These terms, however, do not adequately capture the broad spectrum of reasons that lead to opposition.

Drawing from recent studies by the Energy Transitions Committee, ⁹ MIT Renewable Energy Clinic, ¹⁰ Brookings¹¹ and a paper in the Energy Policy Journal, ¹² the concerns and main sources of opposition can be grouped into four main categories. These are usually more relevant for stakeholders who have been historically excluded, or not listened to, and can arise due to past harms as well as a natural tendency to resist change.

1. Social impact – Concerns related to fair participation and opportunities for meaningful consultation and representation in the decision-making process. Concerns also relate to disregard for right to sovereignty and self-determination as well as threats to sites of cultural, spiritual and ancestral significance and way of life, especially for indigenous communities. Concerns can also relate to health and safety risks, real or perceived.

- 2. Economic impact Concerns related to monetary impacts such as loss of property value and restricted economic activities (e.g. loss of revenues from agriculture and tourism). Concerns also relate to non-monetary impact such as adverse effects on aesthetics as well as access to sites for recreational purposes.
- 3. Environmental impact Concerns related to threats to endangered species, protection of natural ecosystems and biodiversity. The concerns can get amplified if communities have a direct dependence on those ecosystems for their livelihoods or if the areas concerned have cultural significance.
- 4. Impact due to institutional uncertainty, complexity or conflict Concerns due to the lack of legal or regulatory frameworks to adequately consider, address and defend communities' interests. These concerns can also stem from uncertainty, complexity or conflicting interests regarding jurisdictional authority between local, regional, federal, state or even intergovernmental bodies.

Addressing community concerns forms a vital part of the engagement approach to gain a social licence to operate and expedite project delivery, as illustrated by the findings of the ENSURE project, part of the Kopernikus initiative.¹³

CASE STUDY

How ReNew is upskilling women in rural India for the energy transition

The Little Rann of Kutch is a desert located in the state of Gujarat in India. During the six-month salt-farming season, over 17,000 salt farmers, mostly women, endure extreme temperatures to earn about \$120 a year by farming and selling salt. In June 2022, independent power producer ReNew launched Project Surya in collaboration with the Self-Employed Women's Association (SEWA) and the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), India, to propel female salt farmers into India's clean energy transition.

Through a mix of classroom and on-field training, women are trained as solar panel technicians through a course covering topics ranging from the basics of electricity and solar energy to digital skills and finance. These women can be employed in upcoming solar facilities in Gujarat, such as India's largest solar park. Employment can increase one woman's earnings to \$1,200 per year, improving the quality of life for many families and growing the local economy.



The basics: Three pillars for successful engagement

Community engagement has for a long time been an integral part of project development for energy and infrastructure companies. There is no singular template for it because of the many variables

involved and the unique social contexts. However, numerous learnings and best practices have been developed over the years, forming the basic building blocks for a successful engagement.

Understand and respect the local context

To effectively engage with impacted stakeholders, it is critical to understand and respect the social, economic, political and environmental landscape. Projects can encounter both strong advocates and fierce opposition because stakeholders perceive the benefits and impacts differently.

Mapping the stakeholders, their key concerns as well as potential impacts creates a foundation to build a targeted approach that enables meaningful engagement practices. Listening to diverse perspectives from impacted groups and their representatives is essential for building an understanding of the local culture and communities' world views, and for establishing trust. Including local knowledge and priorities can improve the engagement process itself as well as the final project design, creating system value.

CASE STUDY

How local conservation groups' insights helped shape Lightsource bp's project

During the planning stages of Lightsource bp's Mokoan solar project in Australia, the company invited local community and conservation groups for consultations. The local Regent Honeyeater Conservation Group informed Lightsource bp of their ongoing work to improve habitat connectivity for regent honeyeaters (a native bird species that is listed as critically endangered at the state and federal levels and is on the IUCN Red List).15

The group expressed concern about the potential impact of the solar project on their work and highlighted that the development site had the potential to connect existing areas of habitat. Therefore, Lightsource bp amended the project layout to provide a wildlife corridor through the site. It designed habitat creation plans for the corridor in consultation with the group, selecting specific forage species to support the native fauna and ensure habitat connectivity. This example highlights the role local knowledge can play in shaping project development plans.



Regent Honeyeater

2.2 Engage early, continuously, meaningfully and transparently

Community engagement should occur throughout the project life cycle from early development to decommissioning. Meaningful consultations should begin early on when changes to the project plan are still possible. Engagement plans should address all stakeholders, including people directly impacted, traditionally underserved and excluded. Dialogues can focus on their concerns, needs and opportunities to mitigate impact and create community benefits. Communication should be clear, open, honest and provided at a suitable cadence for stakeholders to stay well-informed. Businesses should share project objectives, potential impacts and benefits using accessible language tailored to the audience.

Offering a variety of engagement methods and channels can increase participation and make it easier to gather input that positively shapes the project early on. Beyond traditional outreach (e.g. forums, city council meetings and door-to-door interaction), digital tools can be effective solutions for sharing data and capturing feedback. Sharing real-time credible data can improve transparency and tackle misinformation. Similarly, making information available digitally can create more transparency about the project status across the permitting process, better informing local stakeholders and fostering a collaborative spirit.

Finally, establishing an inclusive and transparent framework to collect and evaluate input, make decisions and share feedback is useful. In case of conflicts and disputes, a clear, fair and independent resolution process is necessary. Feedback loops should be incorporated to monitor and improve both the process as well as the outcomes.

CASE STUDY

How Enel's early community engagement was key for delivering social value

The rapid development of solar projects is impacting numerous communities in Spain, with 26 solar parks constructed by Enel alone across 22 municipalities since 2019. Through community engagement, Enel has identified local employment as an opportunity to create shared value.

In collaboration with local governments and NGOs, Enel has created employment committees to establish a transparent process to prioritize employing local labour and using local

services during construction.¹⁶ In addition, training programmes for non-specialized workers guarantee that the entire non-technical labour need for the projects is met locally.

Since 2019, Enel has trained more than 1,526 people living near the solar parks and will train an additional 5,000 in the next three years. ¹⁷ It is using the same approach in Italy and other countries where it operates.



2.3 Define a clear plan focused on delivering shared value

A shared value approach shapes projects in such a way that they generate value for those most affected while also being beneficial for the business.

Every infrastructure project introduces externalities and has an impact – either short or long term, temporary or permanent, and in distinct phases of the project life cycle. It is important to acknowledge, monitor and minimize these externalities.

Beyond minimizing negative impact, businesses should provide fair compensation where relevant and create a plan for sharing direct benefits¹⁸ as

well as indirect benefits. ¹⁹ Several models for benefit sharing could be used, such as community benefits agreements (CBAs) that outline benefits like social investment funds, local hiring commitments and infrastructure development. Increasingly, companies are offering equity participation in projects.

Finally, distribution of benefits should be transparent. Shared value strategies must be adjusted and refined based on the evolving needs and dynamics of the community as the project progresses and as communities themselves change.

CASE STUDY

How Iberdrola's Convive programme contributes to local development

Iberdrola's Convive programme²⁰ has three main action areas: 1) contributing to socio-economic development; 2) protecting and enhancing biodiversity; and 3) improving the impact of renewables and the social acceptance of the energy transition through third-party partnerships.

The programme has delivered a range of outcomes. For example, it set up a solar energy community, Pueblo Solar Cedillo, ²¹ in connection with the development of a utility-scale solar PV plant in Cedillo, Spain. The community is open to the local population of around 450 people as well as businesses. Participants can obtain up to 50% savings on their electricity bills while decarbonizing their consumption.





3 Call for action: Embracing a peoplepositive approach

Achieving the speed and scale of the energy transition in a responsible way requires a new approach. This includes evolving business strategies, encouraging cross-sectoral collaboration and developing new industry standards.

In addition to adhering to the pillars for successful engagement outlined in the previous chapter, below are some proactive steps businesses can take towards meaningful action:

Prioritize system value impact within the business strategy

Business leaders should embed system value impact into the company strategy, embracing it as a core value to lead by example. A top-down mandate acknowledging that this creates business value is necessary. For this to happen, all business areas within the organization need to be aligned and working towards a common goal, based on clearly defined company policies and procedures.

Traditionally, community engagement falls on the community relations or corporate social responsibility (CSR) units and is reported through performance on environmental, social and governance (ESG) metrics. Other business areas may not be aligned to the same principles and could even have conflicting performance

targets that may cause further misalignment. As an example, if the business development unit is assessed purely on the number of projects moved from development to construction phase, the unit would not have the right incentives to focus on community engagement and shared value creation. Similarly, if the procurement unit is assessed only on sourcing the lowest-cost suppliers, they would overlook opportunities to work with local or diverse suppliers. Regardless, balancing long-term engagement with project development milestones is just as important.

It is equally important to create a positive culture of transparency and willingness to share best practices and lessons learned across the organization.

CASE STUDY

How SSE embeds just transition into its overall business strategy

SSE's just transition strategy²² aligns business and net zero goals. It outlines 20 principles to promote a fair and just transition for workers, consumers and communities while transitioning from high-carbon activities to a net zero world. Of these, four principles focus on supporting communities during the transition: 1) Provide robust stakeholder consultation, 2) Form partnerships across sectors, 3) Promote further industrial development, and 4) Respect and record cultural heritage.

As an example of the first principle, 23 Scottish and Southern Electricity Networks (SSEN) Distribution, part of the SSE group, created an independent customer engagement group to help embed consumer and stakeholder views into its business plan and offer a robust challenge to proposals. The group will continue advising SSEN Distribution as an independent panel, providing rigorous scrutiny to ensure every consumer is considered and accounted for.

3.2 | Leverage cross-sectoral collaboration to move towards a partnership approach with communities

Businesses have a role in providing concrete implementation models for policy to have the desired effect and lean on policy-makers to help guide "what good looks like" for their respective local, regional or national contexts. Here, policy-makers play a key role in creating frameworks to support inclusive ways of developing projects as well as ensuring communities fully realize the benefits.

Policy mechanisms such as the non-price criteria²⁴ in renewable energy auctions and industry guidelines, even if not legally binding, can help guide business decisions on developing projects with positive impact on people. Conversely, businesses can go beyond the statutory requirements and draw on their own best practices to create system value for all stakeholders in regions with weak institutions and/or regulatory frameworks.

Cross-sectoral collaboration can also be useful to widen community engagement towards a

partnership approach. Community groups can often be unaware of their rights in due processes, and lack the technical expertise or simply the resources to meaningfully participate in consultations. Governments, philanthropies and other organizations such as universities can help bridge this gap and support community engagement in inclusive decision-making. The Scottish government provides an impactful example of this with its Community and Renewable Energy Schemes (CARES), providing support for community groups that want to participate in shared ownership arrangements of renewable projects.²⁵

There is much to gain from a collaborative approach and often the missing component is a convening body to bring stakeholders together. Businesses are well-positioned to kick-start discussions that may evolve into mutually beneficial, long-term strategic partnerships with communities. However, wider collaboration with governments, philanthropy and other civil society groups is also needed.

CASE STUDY

How TP Renewable Microgrid is providing clean electricity to rural India

TP Renewable Microgrid, a whole-owned subsidiary of Tata Power, uses a shared value creation approach for community engagement. This creates an ecosystem enabling local communities to use the benefits of microgrids for overall socio-economic development, amplifying India's efforts to provide reliable and clean power to rural communities currently dependant on fossil-based power.

Through the programme, company representatives engage with social influencers, governments, local communities, village-level entrepreneurs, farmers and civil society groups to understand their needs. Solutions are designed in collaboration with technology innovators, skill development partners, philanthropic organizations, financial institutions and other stakeholders to meet local communities' needs. This enables TP Renewable Microgrid to create a win-win situation: it can launch numerous initiatives to provide economic, environmental and social benefits to local communities, while ensuring that projects are smoothly installed, commissioned, operated and maintained.

TP Renewable Microgrid has commissioned renewable microgrids in 200 villages in northwest India with a consumer base of around 21,000. The microgrids save more than 3 million litres of diesel and reduce more than 8,000 tons of carbon dioxide annually while also impacting nearly 300,000 lives.

3.3 | Work with other industry leaders to develop a framework for measuring people-positive impact

With new approaches, the clean power industry can accelerate infrastructure deployment in an equitable way. A first step would be for business to work closely with the broader ecosystem - including policy-makers, civil society, and philanthropic

and community groups – to agree on a common definition of "people-positive". At the same time, a framework to measure and validate the impact of clean power infrastructure on people should be created.

BOX 2 People-positive

People-positivity is the concept of social sustainability that ensures that people's wellbeing and social structures are safeguarded and restored while striving for - and even accelerating action towards - climate goals.

A people-positive approach could expand on the current concepts of equitable and just - which are often limited to energy access, affordability and economic development - to include local upskilling and job creation, engagement in the decision-

making process, as well as equitable distribution of benefits and burdens. It acknowledges that every project will have an impact on people.²⁶ The key element is the "net" idea of value creation, as for carbon neutrality and net-positivity for biodiversity strategies. In the context of social sustainability, it is critical that the benefits outweigh the costs and the burden for the affected people.

Source: Ørsted.

People-positivity needs a more comprehensive definition that could be widely agreed on and accepted by all relevant stakeholders. It could be used by the industry for addressing community engagement as well as by policy-makers for describing standards for their regions.

In addition, a common framework or methodology to measure the impact of a clean power project (or a portfolio of projects) on people could help align business and government on actions. Such a framework could help guide business decisions in improving the engagement process, creating appropriate compensation schemes and informing

the best opportunities for value creation. While broader metrics could focus on system value outcomes, there could also be metrics that are specific and relevant to the local context, potentially developed through consultations.

A commonly agreed definition of what a "peoplepositive" approach entails and a framework to validate it would help mitigate the risk of watering down equitable goals and commitments and using them for "social washing". It would also create an objective basis for validating impacts and value creation instead of relying on selfproclaimed outcomes.

Conclusion

Better community engagement practices would help accelerate the energy transition through faster deployment of clean power infrastructure and result in more equitable and just outcomes for people and society. For example, this could mean job creation or shared economic value. Businesses also stand to benefit from reduced risk of opposition, elimination of bottlenecks and avoidance of costly delays. Communities' involvement can infuse projects with local knowledge to improve project plans. Public authorities, on their part, can get closer to achieving climate, energy security and economic development goals.

Community engagement is not a novel concept, having a long history of successes and missteps. However, societal expectations are evolving.

Today, the clean power infrastructure industry has an opportunity to do things differently and embrace a new people-positive approach. This transformation requires collaborative efforts across businesses, communities and the broader ecosystem, including policy-makers, NGOs, philanthropies and civil society groups.

As the clean energy transition continues to build momentum, bringing people along on this journey will be critical. A clear definition and a new framework for people-positive community engagement will be needed. For example, stakeholders have tools to measure and benchmark carbon impact. Replicating something similar on social impact could accelerate progress towards a just and equitable energy transition.



Contributors

Lead authors

Shweta Jadhav

Project Fellow, Clean Power, Grids and Electrification, World Economic Forum

Irene Varoli

Project Fellow, Clean Power, Grids and Electrification, World Economic Forum

Advisers

Roberto Bocca

Head of Centre for Energy and Materials; Member of the Executive Committee, World Economic Forum

Caroline Narich

Energy Transition Services North America Lead, Accenture

Kristen Panerali

Head of Clean Power, Grids and Electrification, World Economic Forum

Miguel G. Torreira

Global Utilities Strategy Lead, Accenture

Contributors

The World Economic Forum acknowledges and thanks the following experts, without whose guidance this white paper would not have been possible. However, the paper does not necessarily reflect the views of these companies and/or individuals. Expert advice is purely consultative in nature and does not imply any association with the takeaways or conclusions presented within this paper.

Ingo Erkens

CTI at Smart Infrastructure Electrification & Automation, Siemens

Carlo Ferrara

Head of Sustainability Models and Initiatives, Enel Green Power

Ramón Fiestas

Director Latin America, Global Wind Energy Council

Samantha Gross

Director, Energy Security and Climate Initiative, **Brookings Institution**

Manoj Gupta

Chief Executive Officer at TP Renewable Microgrid, Tata Power

Sophie Kuppler

Head of Research Group, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology

Penny Laurenson

Global Head of Sustainability & Director of Environmental Affairs EMEA/APAC, Lightsource bp

Marta Martinez

Head of Analysis and Special Projects, Climate Change and Alliances Division, Iberdrola

Melanie Mbah

Research Coordinator for Transdisciplinary Studies, Institute for Applied Ecology

Madelka McCalla

Chief Corporate Affairs and Impact Officer, **AES** Corporation

Margarida Pinto Correia

Deputy Director for External Affairs and Stakeholders, EDP - Energias de Portugal

Witold-Roger Poganietz

Head of Research Group, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT)

Orlando San Martin

Head of Sustainability, Europe, Statkraft

Melanie Santiago-Mosier

Equitable Energy Transition Adviser, The Nature Conservancy

Amanda Schibline

Manager Socio-Energy Systems, Renewables-Grid-Initiative (RGI)

Vaishali Nigam Sinha

Co-founder, ReNew

Larry Susskind

Professor of Urban and Environmental Planning, Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT)

Adele Tharani

Social Sustainability Manager, Ørsted

Acknowledgements

Doug Arent

Executive Director, Strategic Public Private Partnerships, National Renewable Energy Laboratory - NREL

Maria Luisa Alvarado Diaz

Climate Science Senior Analyst, Iberdrola

Juan José Berbel

Partner, Metyis

David Beron

Master in City Planning Candidate, Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT)

Maximilian Dauer

Project Manager Kopernikus ENSURE, Siemens

Rocio Diaz-Chavez

Senior Research Fellow, Imperial College London

Sebastian Felix

Management Consulting Analyst, Accenture

Diana Hernandez

Assistant Professor, Sociomedical Sciences, Mailman School of Public Health, Columbia University

Aloysius Jacobs

Investment Consultant, African Rainbow Energy and Power

Kaila Kheirolomoom

Program Analyst, Clean Power, Grids and Electrification, World Economic Forum

Prerana Pakhrin Misrahi

Lead, Clean Power, Grids and Electrification, World Economic Forum

Marcela Ruas

Latin America Coordinator, Global Wind Energy

Abraham Silverman

Non-Technical Barriers to the Clean Energy Transition, Managing Director, Center on Global Energy Policy, Columbia University

Juliana Suso

Chief Sustainability Officer, Groupo ISA

Cosimo Tansini

Policy Officer for Renewable Energy, European Environmental Bureau (EEB)

Andrew Wainwright

PhD Researcher, Economics and Climate Change, University of Bath

Editing and design

Madhur Singh

Editor

Jean-Philippe Stanway

Designer

Endnotes

- 1 IEA, "Net Zero Roadmap: A Global Pathway to keep the 1.5 C goal in reach." September 2023. https://www.iea.org/ reports/net-zero-roadmap-a-global-pathway-to-keep-the-15-0c-goal-in-reach.
- 2 World Economic Forum, "Fostering an Effective Energy Transition 2023 Edition." June 2023. https://www3.weforum.org/ docs/WEF Fostering Effective Energy Transition 2023.pdf.
- 3 Clean power includes nuclear as well as renewables such as wind, solar, hydro, geothermal and bioenergy.
- IEA, "Net Zero by 2050. A Roadmap for the Global Energy Sector." May 2021. https://www.iea.org/reports/net-zero-by-2050. 4
- Dirk-Jan van de Ven, et al., "The potential land requirements and related land use change emissions of solar energy." 5 Scientific Reports 11, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-82042-5.
- 6 Dave Merrill, "The U.S. will need a lot of land for a zero-carbon economy", Bloomberg. 29 April 2021. https://www.bloomberg.com/graphics/2021-energy-land-use-economy/.
- Leah Temper et al., "Movements shaping climate futures: A systematic mapping of protests against fossil fuel and low-carbon energy projects", Environmental Research Letters. 23 November 2020. https://iopscience.iop.org/ article/10.1088/1748-9326/abc197.
- 8 World Economic Forum, "System Value." https://www.weforum.org/projects/system-value#:~:text=System%20Value%20 is%20a%20holistic,beyond%20cost%20to%20include%20value.
- 9 ETC, "Streamlining planning and permitting to accelerate wind and solar deployment." January 2023. https://www.energy-transitions.org/publications/planning-and-permitting/.
- 10 MIT Renewable Energy Clinic, "Renewable energy that works for everyone: A university-based clinical approach to a just energy transition." https://renewable-energy.mit.edu/.
- Samantha Gross, "Renewables, land use, and local opposition in the United States," Brookings. January 2020. 11 https://www.brookings.edu/articles/renewables-land-use-and-local-opposition-in-the-united-states/
- Lawrence Susskind et al., "Sources of opposition to renewable energy projects in the United States," Energy Policy, 12 Volume 165, June 2022. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421522001471.
- 13 The Kopernikus project, ENSURE is a long-term multistakeholder collaboration between Germany's biggest power grid operators, businesses, universities and influential NGOs to solve the new challenges in the power grid caused by the transformation towards more distributed energy sources. Socio-economic frameworks and community engagement supplement the technical innovations. See: https://www.kopernikus-projekte.de/en/home.
- Uma Gupta, "NTPC to set up India's largest solar park at Rann of Kutch", PV Magazine. 13 July 2021. 14 https://www.pv-magazine-india.com/2021/07/13/ntpc-to-set-up-indias-largest-solar-park-at-rann-of-kutch/.
- 15 ICUN, "ICUN Red List of Threatened Species." https://www.iucnredlist.org/.
- 16 ENDESA, "Formación, la fórmula de Endesa para generar empleo en el entorno de las plantas renovables en construcción." https://www.endesa.com/es/prensa/sala-de-prensa/noticias/transicion-energetica/renovables/formacionformula-endesa-generar-empleo-entorno-plantas-renovables-construccion.
- ENDESA, "La Escuela Rural de Energía Sostenible." https://www.endesa.com/es/proyectos/todos-los-proyectos/ 17 transicion-energetica/escuela-rural-de-energia-cursos-formacion-andorra.
- 18 Include but are not limited to access to electricity, reduced/subsidized electricity prices.
- 19 Include but are not limited to improved/new civil infrastructure (roads, grids, water supply, etc.), improved air and water quality, improved/new social centres such as schools, hospitals, etc.
- Iberdrola, "SOCIAL ACCEPTABILITY OF RENEWABLE ENERGIES: CONVIVE PROGRAMME: What is the Iberdrola 20 CONVIVE Programme?" https://www.iberdrola.com/about-us/our-company/renewable-energies/convive-programme.
- Iberdrola, "Ponemos en marcha el pueblo solar de Cedillo en Extremadura." https://www.iberdrolaespana.com/sala-21 comunicacion/noticias/detalle/230620-ponemos-en-marcha-el-pueblo-solar-de-cedillo-en-extremadura.
- 22 SSE, "Supporting a just transition." https://www.sse.com/media/j4shimca/just-transition-strategy-sse-final.pdf.
- 23 SSE, "Just transition: measuring progress." https://www.sse.com/media/zzxoyms2/just-transition-measuring-progressreport-2023.pdf
- WindEurope, "WindEurope position on non-price criteria in auctions." https://windeurope.org/policy/position-papers/ 24 windeurope-position-on-non-price-criteria-in-auctions/
- Local Energy Scotland, "We are Local Energy Scotland." https://localenergy.scot/. 25
- 26 "People" comprises a broad group affected by a project including communities, indigenous groups, conservation groups, public authorities in respective jurisdictions as well as any group that has interests in the area being considered for project development.



COMMITTED TO IMPROVING THE STATE OF THE WORLD

The World Economic Forum, committed to improving the state of the world, is the International Organization for Public-Private Cooperation.

The Forum engages the foremost political, business and other leaders of society to shape global, regional and industry agendas.

World Economic Forum

91–93 route de la Capite CH-1223 Cologny/Geneva Switzerland

Tel.: +41 (0) 22 869 1212 Fax: +41 (0) 22 786 2744 contact@weforum.org www.weforum.org